WikipediA

[Foreign Emoluments Clause. (Accessed Jul. 22, 2022). Overview. Wikipedia.]

Foreign Emoluments Clause

The **Foreign Emoluments Clause** is a provision in Article I, Section 9, Clause 8 of the United States Constitution, [1] that prohibits the federal government from granting titles of nobility, and restricts members of the federal government from receiving gifts, emoluments, offices or titles from foreign states and monarchies without the consent of the United States Congress. Also known as the **Titles of Nobility Clause**, it was designed to shield the federal officeholders of the United States against so-called "corrupting foreign influences". The clause is reinforced by the corresponding prohibition on state titles of nobility in Article I, Section 10, and more generally by the Republican Guarantee Clause in Article IV, Section 4. [2]

Contents

Text

History

Foreign emoluments

Presidential

Traditional treatment

Trump administration

Retired military

Titles of nobility

President's title

Titles of Nobility Amendment

References

Further reading

Text

No Title of Nobility shall be granted by the United States: And no Person holding any Office of Profit or Trust under them, shall, without the Consent of the Congress, accept of any present, Emolument, Office, or Title, of any kind whatever, from any King, Prince, or foreign State. [3]

History

The Framers' intentions for this clause were twofold: to prevent a society of nobility from being established in the United States, and to protect the republican forms of government from being influenced by other governments. In <u>Federalist No. 22</u>, <u>Alexander Hamilton</u> stated, "One of the weak sides of republics, among their numerous advantages, is that they afford too easy an inlet to foreign

corruption." Therefore, to counter this "foreign corruption" the delegates at the Constitutional Convention worded the clause in such a way as to act as a catch-all for any attempts by foreign governments to influence state or municipal policies through gifts or titles. [4]

The Foreign Emoluments Clause is constitutionally unique in other respects. First, it is a "negative" clause—a restriction prohibiting the passage of legislation for a particular purpose. Such restrictions are unusual in that the Constitution has been historically interpreted to reflect specific (i.e., "positive") sources of power, relinquished by the states in their otherwise sovereign capacities. [5] Moreover, it is a negative clause without a positive converse. A common example of this is how the Commerce Clause represents the positive converse to the restrictions imposed by the Dormant (or "Negative") Commerce Clause. However, neither an express nor implied positive grant of authority exists as a balance against the restrictions imposed by the clause. For this reason, the clause was cited by Anti-Federalists who supported the adoption of a Bill of Rights. Richard Henry Lee warned that such distinctions were inherently dangerous under accepted principles of statutory construction, which would inevitably "give many general undefined powers to congress" [6] if left unchecked.

Why then by a negative clause, restrain congress from doing what it would have no power to do? This clause, then, must have no meaning, or imply, that were it omitted, congress would have the power in question, either upon the principle that some general words in the constitution may be so construed as to give it, or on the principle that congress possesses the powers not expressly reserved. But this clause was in the confederation, and is said to be introduced into the constitution from very great caution. Even a cautionary provision implies a doubt, at least, that it is necessary; and if so in this case, clearly it is also alike necessary in all similar ones. [7]

According to Lee, the true purpose of the clause was merely to protect popular tradition: "The fact appears to be, that the people in forming the confederation, and the convention ... acted naturally; they did not leave the point to be settled by general principles and logical inferences; but they settle the point in a few words, and all who read them at once understand them." [6] It was argued, therefore, that a Bill of Rights was needed to safeguard against the expansion of federal power beyond such limited purpose(s).

Foreign emoluments

The prohibition against officers receiving a present or emolument is essentially an <u>antibribery</u> rule to prevent influence by a foreign power. At the Virginia Ratifying Convention, Edmund Randolph, a delegate to the Constitutional Convention, identified the Clause as a key "provision against the danger ... of the president receiving emoluments from foreign powers." [9]

The Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel has opined that

[t]he language of the Emoluments Clause is both sweeping and unqualified. See 49 Comp. Gen. 819, 821 (1970) (the "drafters [of the Clause] intended the prohibition to have the broadest possible scope and applicability"). It prohibits those holding offices of profit or trust under the United States from accepting "any present, Emolument, Office, or Title, of any kind whatever" from "any ... foreign State" unless Congress consents. U.S. Const, art. I, § 9, cl. 8 (emphasis added). ... The decision whether to permit exceptions that qualify the

Clause's absolute prohibition or that temper any harshness it may cause is textually committed to Congress, which may give consent to the acceptance of offices or emoluments otherwise barred by the Clause. [10]

The word "emolument" has a broad meaning. At the time of the Founding, it meant "profit", "benefit", or "advantage" of any kind. [11] Because of the "sweeping and unqualified" nature of the constitutional prohibition, and in light of the more sophisticated understanding of conflicts of interest that developed after the Richard Nixon presidency, most modern presidents have chosen to eliminate any risk of conflict of interest that may arise by choosing to vest their assets into a blind trust. [8] As the Office of Legal Counsel has advised, the Constitution is violated when the holder of an "Office of Profit or Trust", like the President, [12] receives money from a partnership or similar entity in which he has a stake, and the amount he receives is "a function of the amount paid to the [entity] by the foreign government." [10] This is because such a setup would allow the entity to "in effect be a conduit for that government", and so the government official would be exposed to possible "undue influence and corruption by [the] foreign government." [10] The Department of Defense has expressly held that "this same rationale applies to distributions from limited liability corporations." [13]

Presidential

Traditional treatment

Foreign states often present the President of the United States with gifts. While President, George Washington received a painting of, and key to, the Bastille from the Marquis de Lafayette, as "a tribute Which I owe as A Son to My Adoptive father." After leaving office, Washington also took home to Mount Vernon a painting of Louis XIV that he had received as a gift from a French diplomat who had been his aide during the American war of independence. However, nothing is known about Washington's motivations, or whether he considered the emoluments clause to apply to either gift.

Post-Washington Presidents have traditionally sought permission from Congress to keep gifts. Absent permission, the President will deposit the object with the Department of State. For example, Andrew Jackson sought permission from Congress to keep a gold medal presented by Simon Bolivar; Congress refused to grant consent, and so Jackson deposited the medal with the Department of State. Martin Van Buren and John Tyler received gifts from the Imam of Muscat, for which they received congressional authorization either to transfer them to the United States Government or to auction them with proceeds vesting to the United States Treasury.

Trump administration

American politician and associate professor of law at Fordham University, Zephyr Teachout has argued that the extensive business and real estate dealings of President Donald Trump, especially with respect to government agencies in other countries, may fall within the clause's scope, but Irish law lecturer, Seth Barrett Tillman, of Maynooth University in Ireland, has written that the restriction may not apply to the president, based upon his reading of possible exceptions made during George Washington's administration. Tillman also wrote that "In order to ensure against ethical conflicts,

both real and perceived, Trump should place his interests in those holdings beyond his personal control, i.e., into an independently managed blind trust. Such a move would be wise and consistent with America's best political traditions and practices." [18][19]

After China provisionally granted 38 "Trump" trademarks in March 2017, Democratic senators protested Trump's acceptance of the trademarks without congressional approval. [20] In December 2018, there were reports of Saudi Arabia indirectly funneling funds to Donald Trump through Trump businesses, such as his hotels, that may be in breach of the Emoluments Clause. [21]

The group <u>Citizens</u> for Responsibility and <u>Ethics</u> in <u>Washington</u>, including former White House lawyers Norm <u>Eisen</u> and <u>Richard Painter</u>, filed a lawsuit against Trump alleging violations of the clause, [20] including the acceptance of the Chinese trademarks. One of these lawsuits, <u>Blumenthal v. Trump</u>, was dismissed on standing grounds by the <u>United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit</u>. Two other lawsuits, <u>CREW v. Trump</u> and <u>D.C. and Maryland v. Trump</u>, were dismissed as <u>moot</u> on January 25, 2021, by the <u>Supreme Court</u> vacating lower court decisions that went against Trump, because he was no longer in office. The court's decision effectively ended all litigation against Trump on the emoluments issue.

Retired military

Under interpretations of the Emoluments Clause elaborated by the Comptroller General of the United States and the U.S. Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel (but which have never been tested in court) retired military personnel are forbidden from receiving employment, consulting fees, gifts, travel expenses, honoraria, or salary from foreign governments without prior consent from Congress. Per section 908 of title 37 of the United States Code, this requires advance approval from the Secretary of State and the Secretary of the relevant branch of the Armed Services. [25] Retired military officers have voiced concerns through the Retired Officers Association that applying the clause to them but not to retired civil service members is not an equal application of the clause, and therefore unconstitutional.

In 1942, Congress authorized members of the armed forces to accept any "decorations, orders, medals and emblems" offered by <u>allied nations</u> during the course of <u>World War II</u> or up to one year following its conclusion. [26] Notably, Gen. <u>Dwight D. Eisenhower</u> accepted a number of titles and awards pursuant to this authorization after the fall of <u>Nazi Germany</u>, including a knighthood in <u>Denmark's</u> highest order of chivalry, the Order of the Elephant. [27]

Congress has also consented in advance to the receipt from foreign governments by officials of the United States government (including military personnel) of a variety of gifts, subject to a variety of conditions, in the Foreign Gifts and Decorations Act^[28] and section 108A of the Mutual Educational and Cultural Exchange Act, otherwise known as the Fulbright–Hays Act of 1961. ^[29] Under these rules numerous foreign decorations have been awarded to American military and civilian personnel, such as for diplomatic service or during the Vietnam and Gulf Wars. Presidents Obama and Trump both received the Collar of the Order of Abdulaziz Al Saud from Saudi Arabia, a decoration frequently given to heads of state. ^[30]

The New York Times has reported that, according to two defense officials, the Army is investigating whether Michael T. Flynn "received money from the Russian government during a trip he took to Moscow in 2015" while he was a government official. [31] According to the officials, there was no record that Flynn has "filed the required paperwork for the trip", as required by the Emoluments Clause. [31]

Titles of nobility

The issue of titles was of serious importance to the <u>American Revolutionaries</u> and the Framers of the Constitution. Some felt that titles of nobility had no place in an equal and just society because they clouded people's judgment. Thomas Paine, in a criticism on nobility in general, wrote:

Dignities and high sounding names have different effects on different beholders. The lustre of the Star and the title of My Lord, over-awe the superstitious vulgar, and forbid them to inquire into the character of the possessor: Nay more, they are, as it were, bewitched to admire in the great, the vices they would honestly condemn in themselves. This sacrifice of common sense is the certain badge which distinguishes slavery from freedom; for when men yield up the privilege of thinking, the last shadow of liberty quits the horizon. [32]

He felt that titles blinded people from seeing the true character of a person by providing titled individuals a *lustre*. Many Americans connected titles with the corruption that they had experienced from Great Britain, while others, like Benjamin Franklin, did not have as negative a view of titles. He felt that if a title is *ascending*, that is, it is achieved through hard work during a person's lifetime, it is good because it encourages the title holder's posterity to aspire to achieve the same or greater title; however, Franklin commented, that if a title is *descending*, that is, it is passed down from the title holder to his posterity, then it is:

groundless and absurd, but often hurtful to that Posterity, since it is apt to make them proud, disdaining to be employ'd in useful Arts, and thence falling into Poverty, and all the Meannesses, Servility, and Wretchedness attending it; which is the present case with much of what is called the *Noblesse* in Europe. [34]

President's title

One of the first issues that the <u>United States Senate</u> dealt with was the title of president. Vice President <u>John Adams</u> called the senators' attention to this pressing procedural matter. Most senators were averse to calling the president anything that resembled the titles of European monarchs, yet John Adams proceeded to recommend the title: "His Highness, the President of the United States, and Protector of their Liberties," an attempt to imitate the titles of the British monarch: "By the Grace of God, of Great Britain, France and Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, Prince-Elector of Hannover, Duke of Brunswick" and the French monarch: "By the Grace of God, Most Christian King of France and Navarre." Some senators favored "His Elective Majesty" or "His <u>Excellency</u>" (the latter of which would become the standard form of address for elected presidents of later republics). James Madison, a member of the <u>House of Representatives</u>, declared that the European titles were ill-suited for the "genius of the people" and "the nature of our Government". Washington became completely embarrassed with the topic and so the senators dropped it. From then on the president would simply be called the President of the United States or <u>Mr. President</u>, drawing a sharp distinction between American and European customs. [35]

Under the rules of etiquette, the President, Vice President, members of both houses of Congress, governors of states, members of state legislatures, and mayors are accorded the title "The Honorable". [36]

Internationally, the President is referred to as His Excellency. [37]

Titles of Nobility Amendment

In 1810, Democratic–Republican Senator Philip Reed of Maryland [38] introduced a Constitutional amendment expanding upon this clause's ban on titles of nobility. Under the terms of this amendment any United States citizen who accepted, claimed, received or retained any title of nobility from a foreign government would be stripped of their U.S. citizenship. After being approved by the Senate on April 27, 1810, by a vote of $19-5^{\boxed{[39]}}$ and the House of Representatives on May 1, 1810, by a vote of 87-3, 1800 the amendment, titled "Article Thirteen", was sent to the state legislatures for ratification. On two occasions between 1812 and 1816 it was within two states of the number needed to become a valid part of the Constitution. 1800 As Congress did not set a time limit for its ratification, the amendment is still technically pending before the states. Currently, ratification by an additional 26 states would be necessary for this amendment to be adopted.

References

- 1. Shenon, Philip and Greenhouse, Linda. "US Constitution Annotated Article I. LEGISLATIVE DEPARTMENT Section IX Clause VIII" (https://www.law.cornell.edu/constitution-conan/article-1/se ction-9/clause-8). Cornell Law School. Retrieved August 16, 2019.
- 2. Delahunty, Robert J. "Essay on the Emoluments Clause" (http://www.heritage.org/constitution/#!/a rticles/1/essays/68/emoluments-clause). The Heritage Foundation. Retrieved December 13, 2016.
- 3. U.S. Const. art. I, § 9, cl. 8 (http://usconst.co/p/#a1s9c8), parchment text. The post-ratification "correct Copy" of the Constitution included by Childs and Swaine, "Printers to the United States," in their 1789 session laws volume omits the comma after "title," but the three most important pre-ratification versions all contain it. See Philip Huff, "How Different Are the Early Versions of the United States Constitution? An Examination," (https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_i d=2626538) 20 Green Bag 2d 163, 173 (2017).
- Heritage Foundation (Washington, D.C.) (2005). <u>The Heritage Guide to the Constitution</u> (https://ar chive.org/details/heritageguidetoc0000unse). Edwin Meese, III: Regnery Publishing. <u>ISBN</u> 1-59698-001-X.
- See generally U.S. Const. amend. X; see also <u>The Federalist No. 41</u> (James Madison); and <u>Letters From The Federal Farmer</u> (Richard Henry Lee), Letter III (October 10, 1787) ed. Forrest McDonald (Indianapolis: Liberty Fund 1999) (Accessed from http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/690/102315 on 2009-05-22)
- "Empire and Nation: Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvania (John Dickinson). Letters from the Federal Farmer (Richard Henry Lee)" (http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/690/102320). Online Library of Liberty. Retrieved 2016-11-24.
- 7. "Empire and Nation: Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvania (John Dickinson). Letters from the Federal Farmer (Richard Henry Lee)" (http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/690/102320). oll.libertyfund.org. Online Library of Liberty. Retrieved 2016-11-24. (emphasis added).
- 8. Teachout, Zephyr (November 17, 2016). "Trump's Foreign Business Ties May Violate the Constitution" (https://www.nytimes.com/roomfordebate/2016/11/17/would-trumps-foreign-business-ties-be-constitutional/trumps-foreign-business-ties-may-violate-the-constitution). New York Times.

- 9. Robertson, David (1805). *Debates and Other Proceedings of the Convention of Virginia* (https://archive.org/details/debatesotherproc00virg) (2d. ed.). p. 345 (https://archive.org/details/debatesotherproc00virg/page/345).
- Dellinger, Walter (1993-10-28). "Applicability of the Emoluments Clause to Non-Government Members of ACUS" (https://www.justice.gov/file/20456/download). Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel.
- 11. Mikhail, John. ""Emolument" in Blackstone's Commentaries" (https://balkin.blogspot.com/2017/05/emolument-in-blackstones-commentaries.html). *Balkinization*. Retrieved 4 June 2017.
- 12. Barron, David (2009-12-07). "Applicability of the Emoluments Clause and the Foreign Gifts and Decorations Act To The President's Receipt of the Nobel Peace Prize" (https://www.justice.gov/sit es/default/files/olc/opinions/2009/12/31/emoluments-nobel-peace_0.pdf) (PDF). Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel.
- 13. "White Paper: Application of the Emoluments Clause to DoD Civilian Employees and Military Personnel" (https://web.archive.org/web/20190401014132/http://ogc.osd.mil/defense_ethics/resource_library/emoluments_clause_applications.pdf) (PDF). U.S. Department of Defense. Archived from the original (http://ogc.osd.mil/defense_ethics/resource_library/emoluments_clause_applications.pdf) (PDF) on 2019-04-01. Retrieved 2017-06-04.
- 14. "Letter To George Washington From Lafayette, 17 March 1790" (https://founders.archives.gov/doc uments/Washington/05-05-02-0159). *National Archives: The Founders Online*. Retrieved 4 June 2017.
- 15. "A Portrait of A King at Mount Vernon" (https://mountvernonnewroom.tumblr.com/post/670697355 32/a-portrait-of-a-king-at-mount-vernon). Retrieved 4 June 2017.
- 16. Tofel, Richard. "Emoluments Clause: Could Overturning 185 Years of Precedent Let Trump Off the Hook?" (https://www.propublica.org/article/emoluments-clause-overturning-185-years-of-preceden t-let-trump-off-the-hook). *Pro Publica*.
- 17. Message From The President Of The United States To The Two Houses Of Congress At The Commencement Of The First Session Of The Twenty-Third Congress. Gales & Seaton. 1833. pp. 258–59.
- 18. Tillman, Seth Barrett (November 18, 2016). "Constitutional Restrictions on Foreign Gifts Don't Apply to Presidents" (https://www.nytimes.com/roomfordebate/2016/11/17/would-trumps-foreign-business-ties-be-constitutional/constitutional-restrictions-on-foreign-gifts-dont-apply-to-presidents). The New York Times.
- 19. Adler, Jonathan H. (November 21, 2016). <u>"The Emoluments Clause is Donald Trump violating its letter or spirit?"</u> (https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/volokh-conspiracy/wp/2016/11/21/the-emoluments-clause-is-donald-trump-violating-its-letter-or-spirit/). <u>The Volokh Conspiracy (The Washington Post</u>).
- "China provisionally grants Trump 38 trademarks including for escort service" (https://www.theg uardian.com/us-news/2017/mar/08/china-approves-trump-trademarks-businesses). *The Guardian*. Associated Press. 2017-03-08. ISSN 0261-3077 (https://www.worldcat.org/issn/0261-3077). Retrieved 2017-03-25.
- 21. "Saudi regime used veterans group to dump hundreds of thousands into Trump's business: report" (https://www.salon.com/2018/12/07/veterans-say-the-saudi-regime-duped-them-to-funnel-funds-to-the-presidents-business-empire partner/). *Salon*. December 7, 2018.
- 22. Gardner, Eric (2017-04-18). "Donald Trump's Chinese Trademarks Now Part of Emoluments Lawsuit" (https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/thr-esq/donald-trumps-chinese-trademarks-part-emoluments-lawsuit-995047). Retrieved 2018-07-12.
- 23. Adler, Jonathan H. (October 13, 2020). "Supreme Court Denies Certiorari in Blumenthal v. Trump" (https://reason.com/2020/10/13/supreme-court-denies-certiorari-in-blumenthal-v-trump/). The Volokh Conspiracy.

- 24. de Vogue, Ariane. "Supreme Court dismisses emolument cases against Trump" (https://www.cnn.com/2021/01/25/politics/emoluments-supreme-court-donald-trump-case/index.html). *CNN*. Retrieved January 25, 2021.
- 25. "SUMMARY OF EMOLUMENTS CLAUSE RESTRICTIONS" (http://www.dod.mil/dodgc/defense_ethics/resource_library/summary_emoluments_clause_restrictions.pdf) (PDF). *U.S. Department of Defense Standards of Conduct Office*. U.S. Department of Defense. Retrieved 4 March 2017.
- 26. <u>Pub.L.</u> 77–671 (https://uslaw.link/citation/us-law/public/77/671), 56 <u>Stat.</u> 662 (http://legislink.org/us/stat-56-662), enacted July 20, 1942
- 27. "Dwight David Eisenhower, 34th President of the United States | Presidents of the United States | Arms of Famous Americans | Heraldry in the USA | American Heraldry Society" (https://www.americanheraldry.org/heraldry-in-the-usa/arms-of-famous-americans/presidents-of-the-united-states/dwight-david-eisenhower-34th-president-of-the-united-states). www.americanheraldry.org.
- 28. 5 U.S.C. § 7342 (https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/5/7342)
- 29. 22 U.S.C. § 2458a (https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/22/2458a)
- 30. "Donald Trump awarded Saudi Arabia's highest civilian honour" (https://www.independent.co.uk/n ews/world/americas/us-politics/donald-trump-latest-saudi-arabia-highest-civilian-honour-king-abdu laziz-al-saud-collar-gold-medallion-king-salman-barack-obama-a7746566.html). The Independent. May 20, 2017.
- 31. Maggie Haberman, Matthew Rosenberg, Matt Apuzzo & Glenn Thrush, Michael Flynn Resigns as National Security Adviser (https://www.nytimes.com/2017/02/13/us/politics/donald-trump-national-security-adviser-michael-flynn.html), The New York Times (February 13, 2017).
- 32. The Life and Works of Thomas Paine. Edited by William M. Van der Weyde. Patriots' Edition. 10 vols. New Rochelle, N.Y.: Thomas Paine National Historical Association, 1925.
- 33. Greendorfer, Marc A. (2015). "Restoring Nobility to the Constitution: A Modern Approach to a Founding Principle" (http://ideaexchange.uakron.edu/conlawnow/vol6/iss1/4/). University of Akron. Retrieved January 27, 2020.
- 34. *The Writings of Benjamin Franklin*. Edited by Albert Henry Smyth. 10 vols. New York: Macmillan Co., 1905–7.
- 35. Divine, Robert A.; Breen, T. H.; Fredrickson, George M.; Williams, R. Hal (2003). *America, past and present*. Addison-Wesley Educational Publishers Inc. p. 197. **ISBN 0-321-09337-2**.
- 36. Mary K. Mewborn, Too Many Honorables? (http://washingtonlife.com/backissues/archives/99nov/honorables.php), Washington Life November 1999.
- 37. "General Debate of the 69th Session of the UN General Assembly" (https://www.un.org/en/ga/69/meetings/gadebate/24sep/usa.shtml). www.un.org.
- 38. Adler, Jerry (2010-07-26). <u>"The Move to 'Restore' the 13th Amendment" (http://www.newsweek.com/move-restore-13th-amendment-74391)</u>. *Newsweek*.
- 39. 20 Annals of Congress pages 670-672
- 40. 20 Annals of Congress pages 2050–2051
- 41. James J. Kilpatrick, ed. (1961). *The Constitution of the United States and Amendments Thereto*. Virginia Commission on Constitutional Government. p. 65.
- 42. Jessie Kratz (January 30, 2020). "Unratified Amendments: Titles of Nobility" (https://prologue.blog s.archives.gov/2020/01/30/unratified-amendments-titles-of-nobility/). National Archives and Records Administration.

Further reading

- Grewal, Amandeep (2017). "The Foreign Emoluments Clause and the Chief Executive" (https://www.minnesotalawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Grewal_MLR.pdf) (PDF). Minnesota Law Review. 102: 639–693. SSRN 2902391 (https://ssrn.com/abstract=2902391).
- Teachout, Zephyr (2012). "Gifts, Offices, and Corruption" (https://scholarlycommons.law.northwest ern.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1039&context=nulr_online). Northwestern University Law Review Colloguy. 107: 30–54. SSRN 2081879 (https://ssrn.com/abstract=2081879).

Retrieved from "https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Foreign Emoluments Clause&oldid=1095097913"

This page was last edited on 26 June 2022, at 09:51 (UTC).

Text is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License 3.0; additional terms may apply. By using this site, you agree to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy. Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the Wikimedia Foundation, Inc., a non-profit organization.